FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/30/2019 4:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97277-0

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

RICHARD KING and RICHARD JACKSON, individually and representing a class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,

DEREK GRONQUIST

Respondent,

VS.

CHASE RIVELAND and JANET BARBOUR in their official capacities; the DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; the INDETERMINATE SENTENCING REVIEW BOARD; and KEN EIKENBERRY in his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of Washington,

Defendants,

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR DANIEL T. SATTERBERG,

Petitioner.

PROSECUTOR DANIEL T. SATTERBERG' S PETITION FOR REVIEW

В.	THIS CASE INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT
7	Z. CONCI	.USION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES Chard v. Androw, 171 Wash. 178, 178, 17 P.2d 874, 874 (1933)............ 14 Five Corners Family Farmers v. State, 173 Wn.2d 296, 311, 268 P.3d Gronquist v. Dep't of Corr., 49392-6-II, 2019 WL 949430, at *4 (Wash. Harris v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 472 n.7, 843 In re Dependency of A.K., 162 Wn.2d 632, 645, 174 P.3d 11, 17 (2007) 10, In re of Rapid Settlements, Ltd's, 189 Wn. App. 584, 601 (2015)..... passim King v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 110 Wn.2d 793, 800 (1988). passim Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d Smith v. Whatcom Cty. Dist. Court, 147 Wn.2d 98, 105 (2002)....... 11, 15 State v. Gronquist, 36203-8-I, 1996 WL 470607, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 19, 1996) 5 State v. Sims, 193 Wn.2d 86, 93 (2019).....passim

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

To comport with due process and other constitutional concerns, this Court has maintained a clear separation between remedial and punitive sanctions in contempt of court proceedings. *See King v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 800 (1988) ("A civil contempt sanction is coercive and remedial, and is typically for the benefit of another party; a criminal sanction is punitive and is imposed for the purpose of vindicating the authority of the court."). Whereas the "purpose of a criminal contempt sanction is to punish for past behavior[,] the purpose of a civil contempt sanction is to coerce future behavior that complies with a court order." *Id.*

In 1989, consistent with this Court's decisions, the Legislature repealed Washington's old general contempt statute (RCW Ch. 7.20) and adopted the required civil/remedial and criminal/punitive contempt approach, which is now codified in RCW Ch. 7.21. *See* Laws of 1989 Ch. 373. Available remedial sanctions are defined in RCW 7.21.030. *State v. Sims*, 193 Wn.2d 86, 93 (2019). Under RCW 7.21.030(2), "[I]f the court finds that the person has *failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform*, the court may find the person in contempt of court and impose" a remedial sanction. (Emphasis added). Following a positive finding under subsection (2), RCW 7.21.030(3)

permits a court, "in addition to the remedial sanctions set forth in subsection (2) of this section," to order a party to pay "for any losses suffered by the party as a result of the contempt and any costs incurred in connection with the contempt proceeding, including reasonable attorney's fees." (Emphasis added).

Here, Respondent Gronquist alleged in his contempt motion that the Department of Corrections ("DOC") violated a 1993 Injunction by disseminating his Sex Offender Treatment Program ("SOTP") records to Petitioner, Prosecutor Satterberg, when it referred him for possible civil commitment under the Sexually Violent Predator ("SVP"), RCW Ch. 71.09. CP 5-6. He asked for destruction of those records and an order preventing their use in civil commitment proceedings. CP 6. Although DOC and Prosecutor Satterberg denied any contemptuous behaviors, prior to consideration of the contempt motion, Prosecutor Satterberg rendered Gronquist's claims moot by successfully vacating the 1993 Injunction and obtaining a full copy of the SOTP file under the authority

_

¹ He also asked for release from prison and attorney fees. CP 6.

² There is no finding below that either DOC or Prosecutor Satterberg violated the 1993 Injunction. Both DOC and Prosecutor Satterberg continue to contest this allegation.

of RCW 71.09.025.³ The Superior Court subsequently dismissed Gronquist's contempt motion as moot because no civil/coercive sanction was available to him under RCW 7.21.030(2) and criminal/punitive sanctions cannot be obtained by a private party. With the SOTP records in Prosecutor Satterberg's lawful possession, no remedial sanction was available to Gronquist because a court cannot coerce future compliance with a vacated injunction that is no longer in effect.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court's order of dismissal. Rather than following the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 7.21.030 – where the availability of a coercive sanction under subsection (2) is a prerequisite to the recovery of additional losses under subsection (3) – the Court of Appeals relied on the Division III case of *In re of Rapid Settlements, Ltd's*, 189 Wn. App. 584, 601 (2015) to allow Gronquist to pursue "compensatory relief" directly under subsection (3). *Gronquist v. Dep't of Corr.*, 49392-6-II, 2019 WL 949430, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 26, 2019), *as amended* (Apr. 30, 2019).⁴

This was error meriting further review by this Court. First, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals

³ DOC had previously withheld these records from Prosecutor Satterberg pursuant to the 1993 Injunction and they did not come into his possession until after the injunction was vacated. CP 809.

⁴ A copy of this opinion, which is unpublished, is attached as Appendix A.

construed RCW 7.21.030 contrary to this Court's very recent decision in *Sims* and the plain language of the statute. By allowing Gronquist's contempt allegation to proceed despite the unavailability of any coercive sanction, the Court of Appeals ignored *King* and numerous other decisions from this Court emphasizing the necessary distinction between civil and criminal contempt. Second, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the scope of the Superior Court's contempt powers and the proper interpretation of RCW 7.21.030 are matters of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. For these reasons, Prosecutor Satterberg's petition for review should be granted.

II. <u>FACTS</u>

In 1991, several former inmates sought an injunction against DOC in Thurston County Superior Court to preclude the agency from releasing certain SOTP records to prosecutors in connection with SVP referrals under RCW 71.09.025. Gronquist was not a party to this action, nor was the King County Prosecutor. In 1993, after certifying a class, the Superior Court issued a permanent injunction precluding DOC from releasing certain SOTP records (hereinafter "1993 Injunction"). The 1993 Injunction was affirmed in *King v. Riveland*, 125 Wn.2d 500, 503, 886 P.2d 160, 163 (1994).

Gronquist has a lengthy history of sexually violent acts. CP 808. In 1988, he was convicted of Kidnapping in the First Degree and Indecent Liberties. *Id.* While imprisoned for these offenses, he participated in the Twin Rivers Sex Offender Treatment Program where he came under the possible coverage of the 1993 Injunction. *Id.* In 1993, Gronquist was released from DOC without facing SVP civil commitment, but he quickly reoffended by committing several new sexually violent acts. *Id.* "Over a two day period, Gronquist attempted to kidnap three teenage girls." *State v. Gronquist*, 36203-8-I, 1996 WL 470607, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 19, 1996) (affirming conviction). *Id.* He was convicted in 1995 on three counts of Attempted Kidnapping in the First Degree with sexual motivation. *Id.* The sentencing court imposed an exceptional sentence due to Gronquist's danger of future re-offense and he remains incarcerated for these offenses. *Id.*

As Gronquist approached his April 21, 2013 "Early Release Date" ("ERD"), DOC referred Gronquist to Prosecutor Satterberg for possible civil commitment as a sexually violent predator. *Id.* In connection with the referral, DOC was required to produce "all relevant information," including "[a]ll records relating to the psychological or psychiatric evaluation and/or treatment of the person," and a current mental health evaluation of the person. RCW 71.09.025. Because DOC believed that

Gronquist was subject to the terms of the 1993 Injunction, it withheld significant portions of his SOTP file from the referral packet. CP 809.

In the summer of 2014, Gronquist filed a motion for contempt of court against DOC, a DOC official, and Prosecutor Satterberg under the old *King v. Riveland* cause number in Thurston County Superior Court. His contempt motion alleged that protected SOTP records were released internally within DOC, and then passed on to Prosecutor Satterberg in violation of the 1993 Injunction. CP 1-6. There is no finding below that the records disclosed pursuant to RCW 71.09.025 contained any records covered by the 1993 Injunction. Indeed, it remains Prosecutor Satterberg's understanding that the documents sent by DOC in 2013 followed the 1993 Injunction and omitted documents that were covered by the 1993 Injunction. CP 809.

Nevertheless, in order to remove any doubt about the propriety of Gronquist's DOC records and to prevent Gronquist's continuing manipulation of the SVP process, Prosecutor Satterberg brought a motion to vacate the 1993 Injunction as to Gronquist alone due to intervening changes in the applicable statutes and case law. *See* CP 810-11. The Thurston County Superior Court granted Prosecutor Satterberg's motion:

The injunction is premised on an equitable theory of promissory estoppel, and it must give way to legal mandates. *In re QLM v. State*, 105 Wn.App. 332, 540 (2001). The current statutory scheme

is wholly unlike the scheme discussed extensively in the *King* decision and, accordingly, no longer supports the viability of the injunction going forward as it relates to Gronquist.

CP 594. After additional efforts by Gronquist to block the release of his SOTP records failed, ⁵ DOC produced them to Prosecutor Satterberg for consideration under the SVP statute. Those records remain in the prosecutor's lawful control and possession.

Because the trial court could no longer grant a coercive civil contempt remedy, DOC moved to dismiss Gronquist's motion for contempt due to mootness. Prosecutor Satterberg joined in this motion. In essence, civil contempt was a plausible remedy for Gronquist only when it could be used to coerce return of the records allegedly protected by the 1993 Injunction. Because the injunction was now vacated and the records were lawfully in the prosecutor's possession, no coercive sanction was

_

⁵ Gronquist failed to file a timely appeal from the vacation order, and as a result, it is not part of this case. Gronquist voluntarily abandoned his first effort to seek review of the order vacating injunction. Motion to Voluntarily Withdraw Petition for Discretionary Review, *KingError! Bookmark not defined. v. Riveland*, No. 49057-9 (Wash. App. Div. II June 13, 2016). He then tried to re-raise his challenge to the vacation order under this cause number, but this issue was dismissed by order of the Court of Appeals Commissioner. Ruling on Motion to Dismiss, *King v. Riveland*, No. 49392-6-II (Wash. App. Div. II Dec. 6, 2016). Motions to modify this ruling were then denied by both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court Commissioner. Ruling Denying Review, *King v. Riveland*, No. 94338-9 (Wash. Aug. 22, 2017). No motion to modify was filed in this Court so the Commissioner's ruling became final.

appropriate or available. On August 5, 2016, the trial court dismissed Gronquist's motion for contempt "as moot" due to a lack of an available remedy.

In an unpublished opinion, Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed. It recognized that this case was moot unless "a remedial sanction" was available to the trial court. 2019 WL 949430, at *3. Such a sanction is defined in RCW 7.21.010(3) as "a sanction imposed for the purpose of coercing performance when the contempt consists of the omission or refusal to perform an act that is yet in the person's power to perform." *Id.* The court recognized that "RCW 7.21.030(2) provides that a court may find a person in contempt and impose a remedial sanction *only* upon a 'person [who] has failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Despite correctly interpreting the applicable statutes, the Court of Appeals nonetheless relied on Division III's opinion in *In re of Rapid*Settlements, Ltd's, 189 Wn. App. 584, 601, 359 P.3d 823, 832–33 (2015) to hold that:

"a court may find a person in contempt whether or not it is possible to coerce future compliance." *Id. Rapid Settlements*, 189 Wn. App. at 601. In such a case, the court may "order a contemnor to pay losses suffered as a result of the contempt and costs incurred in the contempt proceedings for any 'person found in contempt of court' without regard to whether it is possible to craft a coercive sanction."

Id. It further held, based on Rapid Settlements, that RCW 7.21.030(3) authorizes an award of losses suffered due to the contempt, as well as attorney fees. Id. Under this statute, "a defendant may be 'punished' even in a civil contempt proceeding if the purpose is to compensate the complainant." Id. at *4 (Quoting Rapid Settlements, 189 Wn. App. at 608). The Court of Appeals ultimately held that Gronquist's contempt motion was not moot because "compensatory relief" was available, thereby entitling Gronquist to an award covering "any losses he suffered as a result of [the] alleged contempt." Id.

III. <u>ISSUE</u>

Whether a court may order compensatory damages for civil contempt under RCW 7.21.030(3) when a coercive remedial sanction is no longer available under .030(2), and if not, should the civil contempt motion be dismissed as moot?

IV. REASONS TO GRANT PETITION

A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

The Court of Appeals claims a viable civil remedy for Gronquist despite the plain and express language of RCW 7.12.030. The Court of Appeals' failure to adhere to the plain language of the statute violates this Court's rules of statutory construction. "When the plain language is

unambiguous—that is, when the statutory language admits of only one meaning—the legislative intent is apparent, and we will not construe the statute otherwise." *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318, 320 (2003). It is a "fundamental principle of statutory construction" that this Court "will not construe unambiguous language in a statute." *Harris v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 472 n.7, 843 P.2d 1056, 1062 (1993).

As adopted in 1989, RCW Ch. 7.21 maintains the constitutionally required boundaries between civil and criminal contempt. Under RCW 7.21.010(3), a "remedial sanction" is defined as "a sanction imposed *for the purpose of coercing performance* when the contempt consists of the omission or refusal to perform an act that is yet in the person's power to perform." (Emphasis added.) In contrast, a "punitive sanction" is a sanction "imposed to punish a past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority of the court." RCW 7.21.010(2) (emphasis added).

In *King* and other cases, this Court has repeatedly emphasized that civil and criminal contempt are separate doctrines that raise distinct constitutional concerns. *King*, 110 Wn.2d at 800; *see also, e.g. In re Dependency of A.K.*, 162 Wn.2d 632, 645, 174 P.3d 11, 17 (2007); *State v. Breazeale*, 144 Wash.2d 829, 842, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001) ("Contempt may

be criminal *or* civil."). Indeed, "[d]ue process protections are determined by whether the sanction is remedial or punitive." *In re Silva*, 166 Wn.2d 133, 141, 206 P.3d 1240, 1245 (2009). For example, when a punitive sanction is sought, criminal due process rights apply and contempt must be initiated by the prosecutor through an information. *Smith v. Whatcom Cty. Dist. Court*, 147 Wn.2d 98, 105 (2002). In contrast, "a civil contempt sanction is *allowed as long as it serves coercive, not punitive, purposes.*" *Smith v. Whatcom Cty. Dist. Court*, 147 Wn.2d 98, 105, 52 P.3d 485, 489 (2002) (emphasis added).

In order to preserve the coercive function and purpose of civil contempt, the Legislature allows a civil contempt finding only against a person who "has failed or refused to perform an act *that is yet within the person's power to perform.*" RCW 7.21.030(2) (emphasis added). A court "may find the person in contempt of court" and impose "remedial sanctions" under subsection (2) only *after* it makes this specific finding. *Id*.

Although RCW 7.21.030(3) potentially allows for additional remedies, including attorney fees, such relief is dependent on a prior finding of civil contempt and the imposition of a coercive sanction under RCW 7.21.030(2). Under the plain language of subsection (3), "[t]he court may, in addition to the remedial sanctions set forth in subsection (2)

of this section, order a person found in contempt of court to pay a party for any losses . . . including reasonable attorney's fees." RCW 7.21.030(2) (emphasis added). Of course, an award under subsection (3) is not "in addition to" remedial sanctions under subsection (2) when there is neither a finding of contempt, nor any remedial sanction whatsoever under subsection (2).

This straightforward analysis of the plain language of RCW 7.21.030 was very recently adopted by this Court in *State v. Sims*, 193 Wn.2d 86, 93 (2019).⁶ In *Sims*, this Court notes several times that RCW 7.21.030 is a "plain language" statute, meaning that it is not subject to construction. *Id.* (noting the statute's "plain language"). Examining this plain statutory language, this Court notes that relief under .030(2) wholly depends on the ability to remedy a continuing contempt:

The statute lists the following available sanctions in subsection (2): (a) imprisonment, (b) "[a] forfeiture not to exceed two thousand dollars for each day the contempt of court continues," (c) an order designed to ensure compliance with a prior order of the court, (d) "[a]ny other remedial sanction . . . if the court expressly finds that those [above listed] sanctions would be ineffectual to terminate a continuing contempt of court," and (e) commitment to juvenile detention. RCW 7.21.030 (emphasis added).

⁶ The *Sims* analysis was pointed out the Court of Appeals through a timely motion for reconsideration, but no changes were made to the opinion in response.

Sims, 193 Wn.2d at 93 7 (emphasis in original). This Court further emphasizes that relief is available under .030(3) only if the party first obtains relief under .030(2):

The statute further provides, "The court may, in addition to the remedial sanctions set forth [above], order a person found in contempt of court to pay a party for any losses suffered by the party as a result of the contempt and any costs incurred in connection with the contempt proceeding, including reasonable attorney's fees." RCW 7.21.030(3) (emphasis added).

Id. (Emphasis and bracketed text in original).

One of the questions in *Sims* was whether RCW 7.21.030 authorized "the imposition of interest." *Id.* Under this statute, as analyzed by this Court, "the plain language of the statute does not address, include, or provide for interest." *Sims*, 193 Wn.2d at 93. This was because interest was not a coercive remedy under RCW 7.21.030(2), nor was it available under RCW 7.21.030(3) when there was no coercive remedy available under subsection (2).

The Court of Appeals decision to broadly treat RCW 7.21.030(3) as an independent avenue for "compensatory relief" cannot be squared with the plain language of the statute or this Court's analysis in *Sims*. Indeed, rather than reading the plain language of RCW 7.21.030 for its conclusions, the Court of Appeals sole authority for interpreting RCW 7.21.030(3) in isolation from .030(2) was the Division III opinion in *In re*

of Rapid Settlements, Ltd's, 189 Wn. App. 584, 601, 359 P.3d 823, 832–33 (2015). The Rapid Settlements opinion fails to undertake any meaningful analysis of these two statutory sections and how they interact. Its conclusion that a party can proceed under .030(3) regardless of the availability of a coercive sanction under .030(2) is based exclusively on citation to State ex rel. Chard v. Androw, 171 Wash. 178, 178, 17 P.2d 874, 874 (1933). The 1933 Chard decision, however, relies on "Rem. Comp. Stat. § 1058," which is wholly dissimilar to RCW 7.21.030(2) and (3). In short, the Court of Appeal's reliance on the Rapid Settlements case fails to account for the plain and controlling language in RCW 7.21.030.

In addition to the conflict with this Court's rules of statutory construction and *Sims*, the Court of Appeals decision unnecessarily blurs

Chard and RCW 7.21.030.

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