FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/28/2019 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97277-0

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD KING and RICHARD JACKSON, individually and representing a class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,

### DEREK GRONQUIST,

Intervenor-Plaintiff,

v.

CHASE RIVELAND and JANET BARBOUR in their official capacities; the DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; the INDETERMINATE SENTENCING REVIEW BOARD; and KEN EIKENBERRY in his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of Washington,

Defendants.

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR DANIEL T. SATTERBERG,

Intervenor-Defendant.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant-Intervenor Satterberg asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision reversing the dismissal of Mr. Gronquist's case as moot and remanding to the trial court, on the claimed ground that it runs afoul of this Court's analysis in *State v. Sims*. Petition for Review (hereafter "Pet.") at 12. But Satterberg's argument is untenable. *Sims* is irrelevant, and the Court of Appeals properly applied its own binding precedent, *In re Rapid Settlements*, *Ltd.*, review of which this Court previously denied. *See* 189 Wn. App. 584, 359 P.3d 823 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1020 (2016).

In his Petition, Satterberg argues that the Court should grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), on two grounds:

(1) "the Court of Appeals construed RCW 7.21.030 contrary to this Court's very recent decision in *Sims* and the plain language of the statute"; and (2) because "the scope of the Superior Court's contempt powers and the proper interpretation of RCW 7.21.030 are matters of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court." Pet. at 3–4.

But since the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is not contrary to this Court's ruling in *Sims* and does not raise a matter of substantial public interest, this Court should deny the petition for review.

## II. FACTS

In 1994, this Court affirmed a permanent injunction against the Washington Department of Corrections (DOC), enjoining it from releasing certain highly confidential treatment "SOTP" files of a class of sex offenders. *See King v. Riveland*, 125 Wn.2d 500, 886 P.2d 160, 162–64 (1994). The injunction also enjoined non-parties from violating its terms. *Id.* "Although not a named party in *King*, Gronquist fell within the class of persons protected by the *King* injunction." *Gronquist v. Dep't. of Corr.*, No. 49392-6-II, slip op. at 2 (Wash. Ct. App. April 30, 2019). "In July 2015, Gronquist intervened in the 1991 case that resulted in the *King* injunction. He alleged that DOC violated the King injunction by sharing his SOTP file with [Defendant-intervenor King County Prosecutor] KCP. Gronquist filed a motion for an order to show cause why DOC and KCP should not be held in contempt." *Id.* "After Gronquist filed his motion, KCP intervened as a defendant in the case." *Id.*, n. 1.

More than three years ago, "the trial court entered a written order vacating the injunction as to Gronquist," on the ground that since the injunction was entered, subsequent legislation "unequivocally requires disclosure to the prosecuting attorney of all records, including complete SOTP files, in connection with Sexually Violent Predator proceedings." *Id.* at 3. "The court concluded that the vacation of the injunction as to

Gronquist, would 'not directly affect the current contempt action'" since its ruling was "prospective only, and [did] not resolve allegations of contempt in the past." *Id.* After the injunction had been vacated and the Court of Appeals declined review, "DOC provided KCP with Gronquist's complete SOTP file." *Id.*<sup>1</sup>

Subsequently, without deciding whether DOC and KCP violated the injunction, the trial court dismissed the remainder of Mr. Gronquist's motion for contempt as moot. *Id.* at 8.

Gronquist appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for the trial court to rule on the merits of Gronquist's motion for contempt, holding: "If Gronquist can prove DOC and KCP are in contempt, then he can recover losses that he proves resulted from the disclosure of his SOTP file. The court can award him compensatory relief. Therefore, Gronquist's motion for contempt is not moot." *Id.* at 8–

The merits of Mr. Gronquist's motion—whether the KCP and DOC committed contempt—are not at issue on appeal. So this Court should ignore Satterberg's attempts to justify his conduct and distract from the issues by impugning Mr. Gronquist. *See* Pet. at 6 ("It remains Prosecutor Satterberg's understanding that the documents sent by DOC in 2013 followed the 1993 injunction and omitted documents that were covered by the 1993 injunction," and "to remove any doubt about the propriety of Gronquist's DOC records and to prevent Gronquist's continuing manipulation of the SVP process, Prosecutor Satterberg brought a motion to vacate the 1993 Injunction as to Gronquist...."). Below, Mr. Gronquist presented ample evidence that DOC and the Prosecutor violated the *King* injunction as to him; it is for the trial court to evaluate and rule on that evidence in the first instance.

9. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals interpreted the contempt statute, RCW 7.21.030(3), in accordance with its published precedent: "This provision 'allows the court to order a contemnor to pay losses suffered as a result of the contempt and costs incurred in the contempt proceedings for any 'person found in contempt of court' without regard to whether it is possible to craft a coercive sanction." *Id.* at 7 (quoting *Rapid Settlements*, 189 Wn. App. at 601 (quoting RCW 7.21.030(3)).

In its ruling, the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that KCP now relies upon as the basis for its petition, which was argued by the DOC below: "DOC contends that this 'in addition to' language implies that a court may only order a contemnor to pay losses, costs, and attorney fees if it *additionally* orders one of the remedial sanctions laid out in RCW 7.21.030(2). This argument is inconsistent with *Rapid Settlements*, discussed below." *Id.*, n. 5. The Court explained: "Compensatory fines have been imposed in Washington contempt proceedings to address many types of loss and damage caused by a party's contumacious acts." *Id.* at 8 (quoting *Rapid Settlements*, 189 Wn. App. at 610). "In *Rapid Settlements*, the court awarded attorney fees and costs incurred in the contempt proceedings, losses incurred as a result of the contemptuous conduct, and a onetime \$1,000 sanction." *Id.* (citing *Rapid Settlements*, 189 Wn. App. at 606, 610–11). Since "[a] court has authority to order DOC and KCP to

compensate Gronquist for any losses he suffered as a result of their alleged contempt," the Court held that Mr. Gronquist's case is not moot, and reversed and remanded for the trial court to rule on the merits of Mr. Gronquist's motion for contempt. *Id.* at 8.

## III. Counter-Statement of Issue

Whether Petitioner has met the requirements for Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4 or 13.5?

# **IV.** Reasons to Deny Petition

The petitioner bears the burden of establishing that the Court should accept review. *In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 267 P.3d 324, 329 (2011) ("Thus, the petitioner must persuade us that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court") (citing RAP 13.5A(a)(1), (b); RAP 13.4(b)).

### A. There is No Conflict with a Decision of this Court.

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion in *Gronquist* and this Court's decision in *Sims*. Indeed, far from rejecting the precedent on which the Court of Appeals opinion relied—*In re Rapid*Settlements, Ltd. —in Sims, this Court cited that precedent with approval

for another point of law. *See State v. Sims*, 193 Wn.2d 86, 441 P.3d 262, 267 (2019) ("DSHS is correct that the statute requires findings, *see* RCW 7.21.030(2) (*see also* RCW 7.21.050(2)), and purge conditions, *In re Rapid Settlements, Ltd.*, 189 Wn. App. 584, 613, 359 P.3d 823 (2015), as amended on denial of reh'g, 185 Wn.2d 1020, 369 P.3d 500 (2016).").

The lack of any conflict with Sims explains why Satterberg instead focuses on his (untenable) assertion that the Court of Appeals opinion is "contrary" to "the plain language of the statute" (RCW 7.21.030). Pet. at 4. Although the heading to his main argument for why this Court should accept review asserts that "[t]he Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with the Decision of this Court," Pet. at 9, the body of Satterberg's argument focuses exclusively on an alleged conflict with the plain language of the statute. Satterberg does not even raise the purported conflict with a decision of this Court—namely, Sims—for four pages, halfway through his argument. And that purported "conflict" amounts to merely asserting that Sims "notes several times that RCW 7.21.030 is a 'plain language" statute, meaning that it is not subject to construction." Pet. at 12. As Gronquist explains below, Satterberg is wrong in his arguments. But more importantly for this motion, his assertion that the Court of Appeals has misread the statute is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4.

## B. There is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Satterberg properly does not seek review on the other specified grounds of the rule, namely a conflict among divisions' published opinions or a significant question of Constitutional law, since neither applies.

So what aspect of this case satisfies the catchall provision allowing review of an "issue of substantial public interest"? Satterberg claims generically that "[t]he proper scope of a court's statutory civil contempt power and the continued viability of Washington's general contempt statute under Due Process is a matter of substantial public interest." Pet. at 15–16. Such issues *can be* a matter of substantial public interest. But exercising discretion consistent with the RAP to accept review is required for contempt actions just like all other petitions. Petitioner has failed to show how the issue presented here—mootness, rather the merits of contempt allegations—warrant this Court's review.

Satterberg's one-page argument in which he makes vague assertions that the Court of Appeals opinion "blurs the distinction between civil and criminal remedies" and "implicates the proper separation of powers," Pet. at 15–16, are simply insufficient.

To support reviewing contempt issues in general, Satterberg cites *In re Dependency of A.K.*, 162 Wn.2d 632, 174 P.3d 11 (2007). Pet. at

15–16. But this Court's explanation of the substantial public interest at issue in *A.K*, in which dependent juveniles were held in contempt several times for running away from court-ordered placement in foster homes, reveals what is lacking here: "This case alone involved four such exercises of inherent contempt power in less than two months. The fact that we have been presented with a number of amicus curiae briefs speaks to the substantial public interest. Thus, we consider it appropriate to review this case." *Id.* And notably, the Court of Appeals opinion in *A.K.* was published precedent. *See In re Dependency of A.K.*, 130 Wn. App. 862, 125 P.3d 220 (2005), rev'd, 162 Wn.2d 632, 174 P.3d 11 (2007).

In contrast to *A.K.*, the Court of Appeals opinion here is unpublished. An opinion that lacks precedential value tends to have less impact on the public interest. And, here, unlike in *A.K.*, which involved multiple juvenile runaways, there is little prospect of Satterberg again engaging in contempt by wrongfully obtaining Gronquist's confidential records, because (as Satterberg points out) the legislature has since changed the law and Satterberg later received the records, so Plaintiff's request for injunctive relief is moot. *See* Pet. at 2, 7.

Finally, another indicator that the issue is not of substantial public interest is that in 2016 the Court denied review of the published opinion

on which it was based, *In re Rapid Settlements, Ltd.*, 189 Wn. App. 584, 359 P.3d 823 (2015), as amended on denial of reh'g (Oct. 29, 2015).

In sum, Petitioner has not shown how review of the unpublished Court of Appeals opinion is of substantial public interest.

# C. RAP 13.5 Governs the Petition.

Since the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded to the trial court for a decision on the merits, the petition for review is actually interlocutory in nature. So, it is subject to the standards of RAP 13.5, not 13.4.

Under RAP 13.5(b), the petitioner would have to meet the heightened standards of showing: (1) obvious error rendering remand useless; (2) probable error substantially altering the status quo or substantially limiting the freedom of the petitioner to act; or (3) that the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction.

Satterberg cannot meet any of these standards. He cannot show obvious or probable error since the Court of Appeals opinion (Division II) does not conflict with *Sims*, and in reaching its opinion, the Court of Appeals carefully followed its own published precedent, *In re Rapid Settlements*. 189 Wn. App. at 823. This Court denied review of the published opinion rendered in *Rapid Settlements*, lending no support for

the idea that it was obvious or probable error. *See* 185 Wn.2d 1020 (2016).

The lack of obvious or probable error is also evident by the fact that Division I has also relied on *Rapid Settlements* for the very same proposition as the Court in *Gronquist*. In *Matter of Marriage of Galando*, Division I held:

RCW 7.21.030(3) allows the court to order a contemnor to pay losses suffered as a result of the contempt and costs incurred in the contempt proceedings for any person found in contempt of court "without regard to whether it is possible to craft a coercive sanction." *In re Application by Rapid Settlements, Ltd., for Approval of Transfer of Structured Settlement Payment Rights*, 189 Wn. App. 584, 601, 359 P.3d 823 (2015).

200 Wn. App. 1030 (2017); see also Matter of Det. of Faga, 437 P.3d 741, 744 (Wn. Ct. App. 2019) (citing *In re Rapid Settlements, Ltd.* 189 Wn. App. at 823, for other principles of contempt law). Division III has likewise cited *Rapid Settlements* with approval for a different legal proposition. *See Hanna v. Margitan*, 193 Wn. App. 596, 373 P.3d 300, 308 (2016).

Moreover, even if he could show probable error, Satterberg would have to show that the Court of Appeals opinion substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits his freedom to act. *See* RAP 13.5(b)(2). He cannot show either. The opinion merely reverses dismissal of

Gronquist's case for a ruling on the merits, and for an award of damages as appropriate. It does not award injunctive relief. Probable error is not shown where the alteration is merely to the status of the litigation. *See State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 321 P.3d 303, 308 (2014).

# D. The Court of Appeals Opinion Was Correct.

Satterberg contends that the Court of Appeals "decision to broadly treat RCW 7.21.030(3) as an independent avenue for 'compensatory relief' cannot be squared with the plain language of the statute or this Court's analysis in *Sims*." Pet. at 13 (emphasis added). But *Sims* did nothing more than address "whether the State has waived its sovereign immunity under RCW 7.21.030 as regards the imposition of interest concerning contempt sanctions." *Sims*, 193 Wn.2d at 88. In Gronquist's case, no Court has decided issues of immunity or waiver under the statute, so Satterberg must establish that *Sims* is not only dispositive on the different issues present in this appeal, but also that any purportedly relevant language is not merely *dicta*. He shows neither.

Satterberg asserts that this Court in *Sims* "notes" that RCW 7.21.030 is a "'plain language' statute." Pet. at 12. This is a mischaracterization of *Sims*. This Court did not hold the entire statute has a plain meaning, let alone that it has the meaning Satterberg urges. The Court held merely that the statute does not explicitly provide for awarding

11

interest, and that the Court would not add provisions that the legislature did not include.

Sims is also distinguishable because this Court ruled that when the legislature has intended to waive sovereign immunity it has said so expressly. Sims, 193 Wn.2d at 93–94. Under that standard, the Supreme Court held only that "the statute's plain language does not support the view that finding an implied waiver of sovereign immunity as to payment of interest is warranted here." *Id.* at 95–96. Since sovereign immunity waiver is not at issue in this case, the analysis and holding of *Sims* are not helpful let alone dispositive.

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